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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

According to tradition Oak Grove was built in 1852. Located on the old Pocotaligo and
Augusta Road, it has been considered a landmark in Hampton County for many years.

Of the Greek Revival style, Oak Grove is a two story clapboard structure resting upon a
raised basement. Wooden steps lead to a veranda which extends the full two stories of
the front facade. (The steps were rebuilt in 1973; the porch which had fallen down was
rebuilt ca. 1935 and stabilized in the 1960s.)

The entranceway features a two-light transom, five-light sidelights, and flanking
pilasters. Two shuttered windows are located on each side of the door, and the second
story has five shuttered windows.

The side facades each have two windows per story and an exterior brick chimney. Attached
to the rear is a one-story wing, with exterior chimneys at each end. These chimneys
appear to be constructed of the original brick; the two chimneys located toward the front
of the structure had deteriorated and were rebuilt in 1935. The windows of the one-story
wings were added during the 1930s renovation.

The veranda at the rear was enclosed in 1935, Since the present owners are restoring
the house to its original appearance, as nearly as can be determined from existing
materials and family records, the veranda will be reopened and the steps replaced.

A1l the main floor windows, except those on the rear addition, are 9/9; those of the
second story basement are 6/6. The gable roof is covered with asbestos shingles.

INTERIOR: The basement has four rooms, a central hall, and stairway. Here the ceiling
Joists are exposed. A brick arch separates the two rooms on the southwest side.
The walls of the basement were originally brick but were covered with plaster in 1935.

This floor plan is repeated on the first floor. The central hall features heart pine
flooring, paneling, and ceilings. The rooms have plastered walls, and the flooring has
been replaced over the years. Ceilings are twelve feet high, and baseboards are twelve
inches wide.

On the second floor all the woodwork, floors, walls and ceilings are of the original
pine. There are three rooms, two bedrooms running the width of the structure and a small
room (over the front door) which was converted into a bath in 1935. Ceilings are ten
feet high on this floor.

SURROUNDINGS: Oak Grove is situated on a knoll facing the old Pocotaligo Road. The
outbuildings, including slave cabins, were torn down in 1935; however, the location of
these structures is known and is included within the nominated acreage. The original
oaks (for which the plantation was named) and magnolias were cut for lumber in 1957,
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

It is not known exactly when Oak Grove was constructed, but descendants of the original
builder, James Cameron Richardson (1802-1871), have long maintained that it was built in
1852. It remained in the Richardson family until 1932 at which time the house (which

had been vacant for a number of years) underwent renovation by its new owners. Today,
the present owners, who acquired the plantation in 1972, are restoring the structure and
attempting to establish its original appearance as closely as possible. One of the few
antebellum structures standing in Hampton County, it has been considered a local landmark
for many years.

The agricultural census for Prince William's Parish, Beaufort District in 1850 listed
James C. Richardson as the owner of 1,375 acres of which 450 acres were improved. The
cash value of his farm at this time was $4,300. Ten years later, the agricultural census
(which was taken near the Whippy Swamp at the Duck Branch Post Office) showed several changes
in Richardson's plantation. This census showed Richardson's property had increased to
1,850 acres of which 600 were improved. The cash value had increased to $36,000. It is
believed that the construction of the house played a significant role in this increase.
The regular census for that same year (1860) further establishes Richardson's financial
status, his real estate again listed at $36,000, and his personal estate at $41,000. At
this time, a Thomas Colden was also residing at Oak Grove, apparently serving as school-
master for the six Richardson children.

-

Several interesting traditions are connected with this plantation. It is believed that
Oak Grove at one time served as a stagecoach stop for persons travelling to Augusta or to
Orangeburg. According to an account written in 1932 by a Richardson family member,
numErous guests were received at Oak Grove, with meals being prepared by "Maum Rose" the
cook,

It is also believed that General William Sherman paid a visit to Oak Grove during the

War Between the States. Supportive of this tradition are Sherman's Memoirs which record
the night of February 2, 1865 being spent at the Duck Branch Post Office. He also records
that the distance from Pocotaligo to his stop at Duck Branch was 31 miles. (The distance
from Pocotaligo to Oak Grove measures 31 miles.)

Architecture: Oak Grove reflects the Greek Revival style of architecture which was
prevalent during the mid-19th Century. The basic design of the structure remains, although
the front porch is not original. (The rear porch has also been enclosed, but the present
owners are reopening this area.)

~ The interior has features indicative of a simple, yet well-designed and well-constructed
house. The mantels are simple, the paneling is hand-hewn pine, and the window moldings are
essentially plain. The open staircase is unadorned, having square balusters.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Three miles southwest of the town of Brunson, in the county of Hampton, State of South
Carolina, containing twenty and five-tenths (20.5) acres, more or less, bounded as follows:
on the northwest by a surface treated South Carolina highway leading from Brunson to
Gifford; on the north by a swamp; and east by lands of Hugh T. Lightsey; and on the south-
west by a road known as the 01d Pocotaligo Public Road.
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